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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF VIRGINIA
Richmond Division

KIMBERLY HAUGHT,
on behalf of herself and all others similarly
situated

Plaintiffs, Case No:

V. JURY TRIAL DEMANDED
THE WIRELESS CENTER, INC.

Defendant.

COLLECTIVE ACTION COMPLAINT

Plaintiff Kimberly Haught (“Haught” or “Plaintiff”), by counsel, brings this action, on
behalf of herself and all other similarly situated Managers and Managers in Training, to recover
unpaid wages and overtime, liquidated damages and attorneys’ fees from her former employer,
The Wireless Center, Inc. (“Wireless Center” or “Company” or Defendant”), for violations of the
Fair Labor Standards Act (hereinafter “FLSA”), 29 U.S.C. § 201 et seq. By virtue of
Defendant’s store staffing model, Plaintiff and others similarly situated were deemed exempt
employees despite never regularly supervising the work of two full time employees or their
equivalent. Defendant is a large specialty-based retailer of wireless communication products,
services and accessories, that has operated over 90 locations throughout Virginia, Maryland,
Pennsylvania, Ohio, Kentucky, New York, New Jersey, Washington D.C., and West Virginia.,
employing more than 200 people. At all times alleged in this Complaint, Plaintiff, and all others

similarly situated, were the victims of a uniform policy and practice to deprive them of lawful
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wages and earned overtime in willful violation of the FLSA.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

1. This Court has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1337
(commerce), 28 U.S.C. § 1331 (federal question) and 29 U.S.C. § 216(b) (FLSA).

2. Venue is proper in this Court under 28 U.S.C. 8 1391. The causes of action
asserted herein occurred and/or accrued in Hanover County, Virginia. Venue is also appropriate
in this Court because Defendant owns and/or operates one or more retail stores in areas
surrounding Richmond, Virginia within this Judicial District and Division. In addition,
Defendant’s unlawful conduct occurred in, among other places, Virginia.

PARTIES

3. Haught is a natural person residing in Tappahannock, Virginia and, at all relevant
times asserted in this Complaint, was an employee of Defendant in its retail stores located at
11657 Lakeridge Parkway, Ashland, Virginia and 4915 Richmond Tappahannock Hwy.,
Aylett, Virginia.

4. Defendant is a an Ohio corporation and is an enterprise, as defined in 29 U.S.C. §
203(r)(1), engaged in business in the State of Virginia, operating retail stores for the sale of
wireless communication products, services and accessories throughout Virginia with more than
25 physical retail locations in Virginia, and currently more than 60 locations nationwide.
Defendant operates as an authorized, independent retailer of Verizon Wireless services and
equipment.

FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

5. On or about December 3, 2014, Haught became employed by Defendant as a

Sales Consultant at its Aylett, Virginia location.
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6. In December of 2015, approximately a year after joining the company, Haught
was promoted to Manager/Manager in Training at the Ashland, Virginia location.

7. Defendant paid Plaintiff and other similarly situated Managers and Managers in
Training a flat salary plus commissions. Plaintiff, and others similarly situated, consistently
worked more than 40 hours a week but were deemed exempt by Defendant and not eligible for
overtime compensation despite the fact they did not regularly supervise the work of two full time
employees or their equivalent.

8. In early May of 2016, Haught’s employment with Defendant concluded.

0. Plaintiff, and other similarly situated Managers and Managers in Training were
regularly scheduled to work at least 45 hours a week, but often were required to work more.

10. Plaintiff, and other similarly situated Mangers and Managers in Training, were
informed by Defendant that the store was to be regularly staffed with less than 80 weekly hours
of non-exempt sales consultant time so as to prevent the accrual of overtime to said sales
consultants.

11. To the extent the allotted sales consultant time was inadequate to meet store
needs, the Plaintiff and other similarly situated, were required to make up for any shortfalls
leading to weekly hours worked well in excess of 40.

12. Plaintiff, and others similarly situated, regularly oversaw less than 80 weekly
hours of subordinate hours worked.

13. Defendant employed numerous other Managers and Managers in Training who
were similarly situated to Plaintiff in that they were classified as exempt despite their working at
Wireless Center locations where they regularly oversaw less than 80 hours of subordinate work

time.
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14.  Asa Manager in Training and/or as Store Managers, Plaintiff, and others similarly
situated, regularly worked hours in excess of forty hours per week.

15. The day to day duties of Plaintiff, and others similarly situated were non-office
and manual and predominantly sales/storefront related, but also included training new hires,
cleaning, making bank deposits and reviewing store sales reports. Plaintiff, and others similarly
situated, had no authority to hire or fire employees and played little to no role in any related
decision-making process.

16. Defendant paid, and on information and belief, continues to pay, its Manager and
Manager in Training employees based on their titles and method of compensation (“salary,
exempt”) rather than based on their actual eligibility for any FLSA exemption category.

17. Plaintiff and all others similarly situated were not exempt from overtime pay
under FLSA because they manifestly were not employed in a bona fide executive, administrative
or professional capacity, nor did they qualify as exempt Retail/Service Establishment employees.
Rather, Plaintiff, and all others similarly situated did not regularly supervise two full time
employees and did not earn more than one-half of their total compensation from commissions.

18. Defendant’s classifications and its policy and practice with respect to the payment
of overtime wages to Plaintiff, and all others similarly situated violated the FLSA, and deprived
Plaintiff and all others similarly situated of the lawful wages to which they were entitled.

COLLECTIVE CLAIMS UNDER FLSA

19. Plaintiff brings this action on her own behalf and as collective action on behalf of
others similarly situated to recover unpaid compensation, in the form of overtime compensation,
pursuant to FLSA. On information and belief, for at least three years prior to filing this

complaint, Defendant has had a uniform policy and practice of requiring its Managers in
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Training and Managers to work well in excess of 40 hours per week for a salary without
overtime compensation. Plaintiff, and others similarly situated, are or were employed with the
Defendant in positions denominated Manager and/or Managers in Training but Defendant’s own
store staffing model makes application of the Executive Exemption impossible as Plaintiff and
other similarly situated employees did/do not regularly supervise the work of two or more full
time employees or their equivalent. Additionally, Plaintiff, and others similarly situated did not
earn more than one-half of their total compensation from commissions and thus could not be
exempt Retail/Service Establishment employees.

20. On information and belief Defendant manages the classification of employees for
FLSA purposes, including store managers, in a centralized and uniform fashion, from its
Cleveland, Ohio home office in all states in which Defendant operates.

21.  On further information and belief, Defendant’s payroll function is operated in a
centralized and uniform manner from its Cleveland, Ohio home office and Plaintiffs’ paychecks
were regularly issued from this centralized payroll operation. On information and belief,
paychecks for all similarly situated employees were issued from the same, centralized payroll
department in Defendant’s Cleveland, Ohio home office for all states in which Defendant
operates.

22. Damages owed to Plaintiff, and others similarly situated, include unpaid overtime,
unpaid overtime on commissions, and any unpaid overtime associated with any work performed
off-the-clock.

23. Plaintiff and others similarly situated Managers and Managers in Training were
paid a specified salary and were not paid any overtime compensation notwithstanding the fact

that they worked in excess of 40 hours per week and the vast majority of those hours were spent



Case 3:16-cv-00942-HEH Document1 Filed 11/30/16 Page 6 of 11 PagelD# 6

performing non-managerial duties. Plaintiff, and others similarly situated, who elect to
participate in this action seek unpaid overtime wage compensation, an equal amount of
liquidated damages, attorneys’ fees, and costs pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b).

24, Defendant is an enterprise engaged in commerce or in the production of goods for
commerce as defined by § 203(s)(1) of the FLSA.

25. Defendant is an employer as defined by § 203(d) of the FLSA.

26. At all times material to this action, the Plaintiff, and others similarly situated, are
and/or were employees of Defendant as defined by 8§ 203(e)(1) of the FLSA, and worked for
Defendant within three years preceding the filing of this action.

27. The provisions set forth in 88 206 and 207, respectively, of the FLSA apply to
Defendant, and all members of the Plaintiff collective herein were covered by 8§ 206 and 207 of
the FLSA while they were employed by Defendant.

28. At all times relevant to this action, Defendant employed Plaintiff, and others
similarly situated in the capacity of Managers in Training and/or Store Managers.

29. The Plaintiff, and all others similarly situated were required to perform non-
exempt work without overtime compensation.

30. Defendant has knowingly and/or intentionally and/or recklessly failed and/or
refused to pay the Plaintiffs and others similarly situated overtime compensation as required by
the provisions of the FLSA.

31. For at least three years, the Defendant has been aware of the requirements of the
FLSA and its corresponding regulations, notwithstanding it willfully refused and failed to pay its

store managers and/or managers in training overtime wages as required by FLSA.
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32. Defendant has failed, and on information and belief, continues to fail, to maintain
accurate time records for Plaintiff, and all other similarly situated employees, as required by the
FLSA.

33. Defendant willfully violated the FLSA by failing to keep accurate time records of
all hours worked by Plaintiff, and all other similarly situated employees.

34. The foregoing conduct constitutes a willful violation of the FLSA within the
meaning of 29 U.S.C. § 255(a), as Defendant knew or showed reckless disregard for the fact that
its compensation practices were in violation of these laws.

35. Plaintiff, and all other similarly situated present and former employees, are
entitled to statutory damages equal to the mandated overtime premium pay within the three (3)
(or more) years preceding the filing of this Complaint.

36. Defendant has shown a reckless disregard for the FLSA’s overtime requirements.
Although Defendant had an obligation to make proper inquiry into their FLSA compliance
obligations, it failed to do so or, having inquired, it ignored or willfully attempted to avoid its
legal obligations.

37. Moreover, Defendant instructed its Store Managers and Managers in Training that
they had complied with the FLSA and was not required to pay them overtime under federal law.
As such, Plaintiff, and all other similarly situated employees were misled into believing that
Defendant was in full compliance with the FLSA laws concerning payment of overtime
compensation.

38. Defendant has not acted in good faith with respect to the failure to pay overtime
compensation. Defendant had no legitimate reason to believe their actions and omissions were

not a violation of the FLSA, thus entitling Plaintiff, and those similarly situated, to recover an
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award of liquidated damages in an amount equal to the amount of unpaid overtime compensation
described above.

39. There are numerous employees and former employees of Defendant who are
similarly situated to Plaintiff who have been denied overtime compensation in violation of the
FLSA, who would benefit from the issuance of Court-Supervised Notice and opportunity to join
the present lawsuit. Those similarly situated employees and former employees are best known to
Defendant, they are readily identifiable from Defendant’s records, and their overtime hours have
been recorded and maintained. Accordingly, all Managers, Managers in Training and former
Managers and Managers in Training who are or have been employed with Defendant for the last
three years, who have worked overtime hours and who have not been compensated overtime
wages, and who regularly supervised less than 80 weekly hours of subordinate employee time,
should be given Court-Supervised Notice of this lawsuit and opportunity to join herein.

40. Plaintiff’s consent to become a party plaintiff in this representative FLSA action
pursuant to 29 U.S.C. §216(b), as evidenced by Plaintiff’s “Consent to Become Party to
Collective Action Under 29 U.S.C. § 216,” filed herewith.

COUNT |
Violation of the Fair Labor Standards Act
(Collective Action)

41. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates the preceding and subsequent paragraphs as if
fully set forth herein.

42. Defendant violated Plaintiff’s, and all others similarly situated, rights under the
FLSA by failing to pay them overtime compensation for hours worked in excess of forty (40)

hours for each workweek that they worked as Managers and/or Managers in Training.
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43. Plaintiff, and all others similarly situated, were entitled to all the rights and
protections of the FLSA and Defendant’s failure to pay them overtime was in violation of the
FLSA.

44, Defendant acted willfully and with reckless disregard for Plaintiff’s, and others
similarly situated, rights under the FLSA.

45, Plaintiff, and all others similarly situated, are entitled to back pay for all overtime
hours worked during their employment with Defendant in an amount equal to one and one-half
times their regular rate(s) of pay.

46.  As a result of Defendant’s willful and reckless actions, Plaintiff and all others
similarly situated, are entitled to recover liquidated damages pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b).

47. Plaintiff, and all others similarly situated, are entitled to recover attorney’s fees
pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b).

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, the Plaintiff, individually and on behalf of all other similarly situated

employees and former employees of Defendant, pray for the following relief:

A At the earliest possible time, she be allowed to give notice, or that the Court issue
such Notice, to all other potential Plaintiffs who may be similarly situated
informing them that this action has been filed, the nature of the action, and of
their right to opt-into this lawsuit if they worked overtime but were not paid
overtime wages therefore, pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b);

B. Designate this action as a collective action on behalf of the FLSA collective class
pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b);

C. Enter judgment declaring that the acts and practices complained of herein are
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violations of the Fair Labor Standards Act, 29 U.S.C. § 201 et seq.;

D. Enter judgment that the Plaintiff, and all others similarly situated, be awarded
damages in the amount of their respective unpaid overtime wage compensation,
plus an equal amount of liquidated damages pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b), and
prejudgment interest;

E. Enter judgment that Defendant’s violations of the FLSA were willful,

F. Enter judgment awarding Plaintiff, and those similarly situated, reasonable
attorney's fees and costs of this suit, pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 216(b);

G. Enter judgment for post-judgment interest at the applicable legal rate;

H. Grant leave to amend to add additional plaintiffs by motion, the filing of written
consent forms, or any other method approved by the Court; to add claims under
applicable state and federal laws, including claims for minimum wages pursuant
to 29 U.S.C. § 206; and/or to add other Defendants who meet the definition of
Plaintiffs’ employer, pursuant to 29 U.S.C. § 203(d);

. Enjoin Defendant from future violations of the FLSA through the mandated
payment of overtime compensation to similarly situated employees for hours
worked in excess of forty (40) per week;

J. Such other legal and equitable relief including, but not limited to, any injunctive
and/or declaratory relief, to which they may be entitled; and

K. Such further relief as this Court deems just and appropriate.

10
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Trial by Jury is Demanded.
Respectfully submitted,

KIMBERLY HAUGHT, ON BEHALF OF
HERSELF AND ALL OTHERS SIMILARLY
SITUATED

By: /s/Paul M. Falabella

Harris D. Butler, 111 (VSB No. 26483)

Zev H. Antell (VSB No. 74634)

Paul M. Falabella (VSB No. 81199)

Butler Royals, PLC

140 Virginia Street, Ste. 302

Richmond, Virginia 23219

Tel: (804) 648-4848

Fax: (804) 237-0413

Email: harris.butler@butlerroyals.com
zev.antell@butlerroyals.com
paul.falabella@butlerroyals.com

Attorneys for Plaintiffs

11
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF VIRGINIA
Richmond Division

KIMBERLY HAUGHT,
on behalf of herself and all others similarly
situated
Plaintiffs
Case No.

V.

THE WIRELESS CENTER, INC,,

A : 2

Defendant.

CONSENT TO BECOME PARTY TO
COLLECTIVE ACTION UNDER 29 U.S.C. § 216

! hereby consent to opt-in to become a plaintiff’ in this representative Fair Labor

Standards Act (“FLSA™) action pursuant to 29 U.S.C, § 216(b).

XL gl UC{W\LJ

Signature

VW e e \ S\QU\C%Y\AV'
~J

Printed Name
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